
CITY OF HANOVER 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

FEBRUARY 21, 2017 – OFFICIAL MINUTES 
                    
Call to Order 
Mayor Kauffman called the Regular City Council Work Session Meeting of Tuesday, February 21, 2017 
to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Chris Kauffman, Doug Hammerseng, Jim Zajicek, and MaryAnn 
Hallstein.  Also present were City Administrator Brian Hagen, Accountant/Deputy Clerk Elizabeth 
Lindrud, Public Works Supervisor Scott Vogel and the Wright County and Hennepin County Sheriffs.  
Several other guests were present.  Ken Warpula was absent. 
 
Approval of Agenda 
MOTION by Zajicek to approve the agenda, seconded by Hammerseng.  Motion carried 
unanimously.  
 
Consent Agenda 
MOTION by Hallstein to approve the consent agenda, seconded by Hammerseng. 

a. Approve Minutes of February 7, 2017 City Council Meeting 
b. Approve Claims as Presented: 

 Claims   $    52,519.72 
 Payroll   $      7,533.66 
 P/R taxes & Exp $      3,034.08 
 Other Claims   $      1,974.06 
 Total Claims     $    65,061.52 

  
John Miller – Eagle Scout Project 
John Miller presented his Eagle Scout project to Council.  Miller would like to create Welcome to Hanover 
signs to be placed on County Road 19 when entering Hanover from Corcoran and when entering from St. 
Michael and possibly an additional sign when entering Hanover on County Road 34 from St. Michael.  He 
showed Council the design he had created, he would use maintenance free posts and cedar for the signs with 
eye hooks below so signs could be hung to advertise for events.  He stated each sign would cost an estimated 
$2,000 and he would be working with the local organizations for funding.  Council thanked Miller and 
requested that he work with the Park Board on the design of the signs. 

 
2017 Road Maintenance Project – Pheasant Run 
Hagen stated that Council looked at the costs of three project options at the last meeting.  With a chip seal 
project planned and a road project in Pheasant Run, there are not currently enough funds in the Street Capital 
for both projects.  Vogel explained that a skin coat could be an option for the intersection in the worst 
condition, and that would hold the road over until the planned road project in 2018.  Vogel was directed to 
have an estimate for the March 7th meeting. 
 
Paving of Jandel Ave. 
Discussion took place over the interest in paving Jandel Ave this year, currently there are no funds set aside 
for this project.  Kauffman requested that letters be sent out to residents on Jandel Ave to solicit their 
feedback.  It was stated that the drainage is the largest issue, Vogel explained that once the frost is out he will 
pull the ridges up and the water will drain properly.  Kauffman directed Hagen to get an engineer estimate to 
include in a letter to the residents on Jandel Ave. 
 
 
 



Settlers Park Ballfield Redesign Project Review 
Hallstein started the discussion on the Settlers Park Ballfield Redesign, she stated she would like public 
feedback and discussion on how Hanover defines community, whether it is those who are from the Hanover 
area or only those who are Hanover tax payers.  Kauffman asked Tom Therrien for a breakdown of the field 
usage.  Therrien stated that Hanover Youth Ball uses the fields every night Sunday through Thursday from 
when the snow is gone until the snow comes in the fall.  He added that enrollment has increased from 180 
children in 2008 to 360 children currently enrolled in Hanover Youth Ball. 
 
Hammerseng inquired as to the breakdown of ages and genders included in Hanover Youth Ball.  Chad 
Kugler explained that it is a 50 percent split between boys and girls, there are more younger players, but as 
those players age they are pushing to stay in Hanover Youth Ball instead of leaving the program.  They 
further explained with the larger field they could now offer leagues for children 16 years and older.  Bill 
Rosso from Hanover Athletic Association was asked how the numbers for the field usage were determined, 
he explained that he used the schedules provided by Hanover Youth Ball and the Hanover Athletic 
Association and determined that Hanover Youth Ball used the fields five hours a week and Hanover Athletic 
Association used the field four hours a week.  Kauffman asked Michael Kehn why he felt that this field is 
only for adult use. Kehn explained that he feels that Hanover Athletic Association is using the Hanover 
Youth Ball to get an adult field built.  He stated in 2010 meeting notes it was stated that there was a proposed 
adult field for the site, but that project died and now has come back again.  Tom Therrien stated that the 
project died in 2010 over lease negotiations between the City and Hanover Athletic Association.  He further 
explained that no one coerced him to come before Council, he asked for the field for the youth and it had 
nothing to do with adult usage.   
 
Stephanie Gleason inquired about the scheduling and if the current field is expanded where will the younger 
children play.  Kugler explained that the fields at Hanover Elementary can now be fully used by the younger 
players and the current Settlers Park fields are too small for their needs. Gleason also inquired about using 
other Cities fields.  Hallstein stated that it seems more important to keep Hanover residents in their 
community.  Kauffman added why would the City want residents to leave Hanover and possibly spend 
money outside of Hanover when they could stay in town and put money back into their own community.  It 
was also stated the fields in other communities are already in use. 
 
Martin Waters stated that he had recently attended a Three Rivers Park District meeting and that there are 
4,000 acres of park next to Hanover in the Crow Hassan Park Reserve.  He explained that the park was set up 
as 80% preservation and 20% recreation.  He further stated that the Board made a motion to contact Hagen 
about a master plan that could include a sports complex in Crow Hassan Park Reserve.  Kauffman stated he 
met with Three Rivers Park District Commissioner DeJournett and she stated their focus is more on nature 
and bike trails.  Hagen explained he has not yet been contacted by Three Rivers Park District, but has had 
conversations with them in the past and they had stated their focus is preservation. 
 
Kauffman addressed purchasing land for a ballfield and stated that in the 2008 Comp Plan the cost estimate 
for a ballfield was around $1.7 million.  He explained he met with Realtor Wayne Elam and the asking price 
for land currently is $3,500 per acre which would bring the cost to purchase land for a ballfield close to $2 
million.  Kauffman explained Council has the following three options; Council can vote again to accept the 
donation, Council can go ahead with the ballfield renovation at the cost of the City, or Council can spend $2 
million on a new location. 
 
Claudia Pingree stated her major complaint has been the lack of information put out to residents.  She stated 
she would like to know how the city is paying for the tree replacement and for the safety measures needed 
for the ballfield.  Abby Peterson stated they have had an open forum for eight months. 
 



Hallstein inquired on the type of safety netting would be put in place and what the cost would be.  Therrien 
explained the two options, there could be a high netting along the right field fencing or a lower netting near 
home plate.  He also explained there is $9,000 left in the estimate that Hanover Youth Ball put together. 
 
A recess occurred from 7:40 to 7:42 p.m. 
 
Hagen inquired what the plan is moving forward.  Kauffman stated that Council will need time to think over 
all the information from tonight and will bring it back at the next Council meeting.  Kehn requested that the 
question be put on a ballot as a referendum.  Hagen stated he looked into that request prior to the November 
Election, and this issue cannot be put on a ballot. 
 
Res No 02-07-17-17 – Approving Public Works Facility Contingency Dollars 
Fehn Companies was present to address Council’s questions regarding the extra funding needed for soil 
corrections. Fehn explained that suitable material has not been found on site to use in the corrected areas.  
Because of this, material is required to be brought from an outside source.  By completing a full soil 
correction under the driveway and parking areas, there will be minimal risk for future settling. 
MOTION by Hallstein to approve Res No 02-07-17-17, seconded by Hammerseng.  Motion carried 
unanimously.  

2 Acre City Owned Parcel 
Discussion took place around the benefits to keeping the 2 acres versus selling it.  Council directed Hagen to 
meet with a realtor to get a value on the property. 
 
Goal Setting Date Update 
Hagen spoke with a facilitator for the Goal Setting Session.  This facilitator has worked with Delano and 
Corcoran in the past.  The facilitator said that an eight-hour session would be the most beneficial for the 
material the City desires to cover.  He structures the event to discuss goal, roles, and relationships of the City 
boards and staff.  Council directed Hagen to invite the facilitator to a meeting to describe the process and 
present the proposal. 
 
Met Council Legislative Item 
Hagen stated that Senator Mary Kiffmeyer sent over information on possible legislation related to Met 
Council.  Currently Hanover, Rockford, New Prague and Northfield fall within the Met Council area, but 
have opted out of its jurisdiction.  He explained that Hanover contributes $6,000 towards fiscal disparities, 
but currently receives $34,000 back in fiscal disparities.  Part of the new legislation would require Hanover 
to submit a comp plan for Met Council review in order to receive fiscal disparities, currently Hanover does 
not have to do that.  The requirements for Met Council’s comp plan would cost considerably more than the 
City has planned for on the upcoming amendment.  Kauffman stated he has received more information since 
this was sent and the legislators he has been talking with do not feel it will pass. 
 
Public Works Staffing – Seasonal and Full Time 
Hagen explained this is typically when the City advertises for its seasonal public works staff.  Staff stated 
they will reach out to last year’s seasonal worker to see if he is still interested in coming back this summer.  
If he is not interested, Hagen will advertise for the position.  Hagen would also like to revisit discussion on 
hiring a third full time public works employee.  Kauffman inquired about the MS4 intern grant.  Hagen 
explained that he and Scott looked further into the grant and that it was not meant to be used to meet the MS4 
requirements, but to go above and beyond.  Amy Biren stated that 300 hours is training through the MPCA 
and a lot of their programs are around educating the public.  Hallstein inquired if they could do agricultural 
education and Biren stated yes.  Biren stated they are not able to take a current staff member’s position away, 
but should be doing work in addition.  Kauffman stated that Council can revisit the third public works 
employee in the fall once the public works building is complete. 



City Policies Review 
Hagen provided feedback on how surrounding Cities conducted their Administrator’s reviews.  He explained 
there were many variations; some did 360 reviews, while some did not.  Kauffman stated that he thought the 
consultant’s feedback was helpful, but their ratings skewed the overall scoring.  Hallstein did not agree that 
the consultant’s ratings should be weighted differently.  Hammerseng stated he did not think the process 
needed to be changed. 
 
Hagen explained that under the Affordable Care Act, 20 hours is considered full time for medical benefits, 
however since Hanover employs less than 50 employees it may be exempt from these requirements.  
Kauffman stated the City should not provide benefits to part time staff.  Hallstein stated that Hanover should 
provide benefits to attract quality employees.  After discussion Council agreed that permanent part time staff 
should receive benefits, but they agreed that this does not include seasonal staff. 
 
Holiday pay was discussed, but due to the meeting running long Council requested to revisit the policies at a 
later meeting. 
 
Biren requested that Council give direction on the Cemetery Policy updates tonight, she currently has a 
family waiting to purchase a cremation lot, but the cemetery no longer has any designated.  Biren suggests 
designating rows 12 and 13 as cremation lots.  Council agreed with the changes.  Hagen stated he will bring a 
resolution designating these rows to the March 7th meeting for approval. 
 
Reports 
None 
 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Zajicek to adjourn at 9:55 p.m., seconded by Hammerseng.  Motion carried unanimously.   
 
 
 
       APPROVED BY: 
 
 
       _________________________________________ 
       Chris Kauffman, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Brian Hagen, City Administrator 


